ANGELINO, SHENA A. M.S. Gait variability, Cognitive Control, and Brain BOLD Signal Variability in Healthy, Young Adults. (2023) Directed by Dr. Derek Monroe. 53 pp.

Gait variability has been studied in various diseases and in aging, however variability is observed even in young, healthy adults. Variability in stride time can be characterized in terms of short-term, or step-by-step variability, and long-term variability. It is plausible that these temporal parameters in gait have similar neural origins to the dual modes of cognitive control since both require goal-oriented, higher-order processing. A handful of frontoparietal areas have been widely observed to be important for the dynamic nature of these abilities. The purpose of this study is to test the hypothesis that the adaptability of this frontoparietal network, as defined by the variability of the blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) signal, underlies a relationship between cognitive control strategies and stride time variability. We recruited twenty healthy young adults between 18 and 35 years old (10 females; average age =  $23.6 \pm 3.9$  years old) to measure performance on a stepping-in-place task, cognitive control, and BOLD signal variability using resting-state functional MRI. A Pearson correlation wase used to determine the association between proactive and reactive cognitive control strategies and long and short-term gait variability, and a partial least squares correlation was used to determine if there is a pattern of BOLD signal variability in a set of frontoparietal regions that jointly explains these cognitivegait relationships. There was no relationship between cognitive control strategy and long- or short-term variability, however there was a pattern of BOLD variability, primarily in control and salience/ventral attention network regions, that was associated with both short-term gait variability, and to a lesser extent, long-term gait variability (Permutation p = 0.0323). These findings provide evidence of gait variability as a marker of brain variability in healthy, young adults and may open the door to understanding its role as a biomarker of brain health.

## GAIT VARIABILITY, COGNITVE CONTROL, AND BRAIN BOLD SIGNAL

## VARIABILITY IN HEALTHY, YOUNG ADULTS

by

Shena A. Angelino

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

Greensboro

2023

Approved by

Dr. Derek Monroe Committee Chair

## APPROVAL PAGE

This thesis written by Shena A. Angelino has been approved by the following committee of the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Committee Chair

Committee Members

Dr. Derek Monroe

Dr. Chris Rhea

Dr. Louisa Raisbeck

Dr. Eric Drollette

April 5, 2023

Date of Acceptance by Committee

April 5, 2023

Date of Final Oral Examination

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to my advisor, Dr. Derek Monroe, for his guidance and support through every part of this project. His mentorship and immense knowledge have sparked my interest in studying the mysterious human brain, taught me to think critically about neuroscience, and firmly established my appreciation for a well-placed GIF in any presentation. A big thank you to my family for their unending encouragement and belief in me. Lastly, a special thanks to the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and the Research Computing group for providing computational resources, the high-performance computing cluster Longleaf, that contributed to these research results.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	
Gait Variability	
Cognitive Control	5
Dual Mechanisms of Cognitive Control Framework	6
Neural Correlates of Gait Variability and Cognitive Control	
BOLD Signal Variability	
Summary of Literature Review	
CHAPTER III: METHODS	
Overview of Research Design	
Experimental Design	13
Protocol	
Dot Probe Expectancy Task	14
AccWalker	14
Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)	15
Data Processing	
Proactive Behavioral Shift Index (PBI)	16
Lyapunov Exponent (LyE)	17
sMRI and fMRI Preprocessing	17
BOLD signal variability	22
Statistical Analyses	
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	
Limitations	
Conclusions	

REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: 35 FRONTOPARIETAL REGIONS OF INTEREST	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	. Demographic	Information	. 24
---------	---------------	-------------	------

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. MRI Data Processing Schematic	. 23
Figure 2. Proactive Behavioral Shift Index – Lyapunov Exponent Correlations	. 26
Figure 3. Partial Least Squares Analysis	. 27

#### CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Human movement, as with many physiological signals, demonstrates variability. One temporal parameter of gait that has been of interest to researchers is stride time variability. As opposed to the traditional view, which regards this variability as noise, recent theories have proposed that this variability represents the optimization and adaptability of a system. Nonlinear metrics, such as the Lyapunov exponent (LyE), quantify the correlation structure in these signals and has provided great utility in characterizing the short-term and long-term components of variability (Raffalt et al., 2019). Importantly, there is a growing amount of literature that relates cognitive abilities to gait variability in a range of populations (Beauchet et al., 2012; IJmker & Lamoth, 2012; Yogev-Seligmann et al., 2008). The neural correlates of these relationships are poorly understood.

The neural mechanisms that underly stride variability and cognitive control, defined as the ability to coordinate and sequence goal-related thoughts and behaviors (E. K. Miller & Cohen, 2001), have been thoroughly explored, albeit separately. Despite an established motor-cognitive relationship, there is a limited amount of research that captures all these components (i.e., cognition, stride variability, and the intrinsic organization of the brain), and even these studies only indirectly assess these relationships (Beauchet et al., 2015). Preliminary evidence from the ongoing Dual Mechanisms of Cognitive Control (DMCC) Project (Braver et al., 2021), which parallels prior work with a cognitive control network, may provide a useful framework to explore these motor-cognitive relationships. Preliminary evidence from a dual-task paradigm monitored using electroencephalography suggests that reduced gait variability was associated with a shift toward neural correlates of a proactive control strategy (Richardson et al., 2022). However, these designs make it difficult to resolve confounding motor-cognition interactions and

those authors note that individual 'baseline' differences may be important. Such differences are increasingly studied in a task-free or 'resting' state using fMRI.

The variability of the blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) signal, assessed using functional magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), has been previously related to motor control (Holtzer et al., 2020) and is thought to represent neural flexibility and support cognitive control (Good et al., 2020; Nomi et al., 2017). Though it has not been tested, the BOLD variability of this network of frontoparietal regions likely gives rise to important stride variability-cognitive control relationships. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to (1) determine the association between cognitive control strategies and long- and short-term stride time variability in healthy, young adults, and (2) to analyze the BOLD signal variability in a set of frontoparietal regions that may jointly explain individual differences in these patterns. Based upon previous literature, the following hypotheses were made:

- Hypothesis 1: Greater utilization of a proactive control strategy is associated with greater long-term variability in stride time (LyEL) and greater utilization of a reactive control strategy is associated with greater short-term variability in stride time, (LyES).
- Hypothesis 2: A pattern of greater BOLD signal variability in a set of frontoparietal regions is associated with cognitive control strategies and gait variability, with regions in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) and anterior cingulate cortex/pre-supplementary motor area (ACC/pSMA) predicted as being most important for this relationship.

#### CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

#### **Gait Variability**

Human gait is the forward propulsion made during locomotion and is defined by the repetitive movement pattern of the limbs (Murray, 1967). This requires the proper functioning of balance, which describes the dynamics of posture, or the orientation of a body relative to gravity, in order prevent falling (Winter, 1995). Maintaining movement patterns within a stable range requires coordination and integration of both sensory ('bottom-up') and neuromotor ('top-down') information (Van Emmerik et al., 2005). As with most physiological signals, human gait has intrinsic variability; each stride varies from the next, despite consistent environmental conditions (Van Emmerik et al., 2005). Repeated movements, even well-practiced patterns, like walking or stepping, are practically never identical across cycles. Numerous kinematic and temporal metrics of gait variability have been proposed.

One metric that has been of interest to researchers relates to the temporal nature of gait variability or the variations in time taken for each forward step, referred to as stride time. On average, this variability is relatively small, with the coefficient of variation of stride time being approximately 2-3% percent in healthy young adults (Gabell & Nayak, 1984; Hausdorff et al., 1997). Traditionally, this variability has been considered to be noise (van Beers et al., 2004), with various experiments using goal-directed movement patterns to try to determine the contribution of planning noise versus execution noise. With the traditional approach that considers variability as simply noise, the biological signal represents the planned gait pattern and the variability represents random noise imposed upon this signal (Newell & Corcos, 1993). However, more recently, researchers have acknowledged that variability may be an emergent property of a healthy, functional state that represents the optimization of a biological system. This has shifted the focus to characterizing the intrinsic variability observed in human gait that is necessary for the maintenance of successful navigation.

One prevailing theory that attempts to explain this variability in human movement is the dynamical systems theory (DST) (Stergiou & Decker, 2011). This theory states that a biological system self-organizes to obtain the most stable solution for a certain movement, with environmental and biomechanical conditions as constraining factors (Kamm et al., 1990). In this framework, greater variability is generally considered to indicate less stable movement patterns, and when environmental conditions cause variability to increase, the system responds adaptively by reducing variability and optimizing stability. Thus, DST is commonly used to describe transitions between movement patterns to explain variability in human gait across varied environments and conditions (Thelen, 1995).

However, variability is observed even in highly repetitive movements under stable conditions, like a baseball pitcher's mechanics across a game (Chaisanguanthum et al., 2014) or during a simple stepping-in-place task (Rhea et al., 2017, 2018). Using nonlinear analyses, this variability can be parsed into its short- and long-term components, using metrics such as the largest Lyapunov exponent (LyE) computed over 0-1 strides (LyES) and 4-10 strides (LyEL), respectively (Dingwell et al., 2001; Raffalt et al., 2019). LyES is thought to represent a system's ability to attenuate small perturbations over a single stride, while LyEL represents this ability over the timescale of several strides. Computing the LyE involves algorithmically determining the rate of exponential convergence or divergences of nearby points for a timeseries that has been transformed into state space. Though not previously tested, these metrics pose great potential in characterizing independent anticipatory processes that are proposed to drive synchronization behaviors: Local, or 'weak anticipation', produces moment- or trial-wise error-

corrections based on internal predictive models, whereas global, or 'strong anticipation', contributes to long-range correlations in biological systems (Dubois, 2003; Stepp & Turvey, 2010).

LyE has also been used extensively to study kinematics during non-cued behaviors. For example, in a study observing gait stability during treadmill, older adults exhibited a higher LyES in stride time compared to young adults, indicating greater short-term variability and reduced ability to attenuate small perturbations in gait (Bruijn et al., 2014). A different study in young healthy adults aimed to assess the effect of walking on a treadmill on gait parameters as compared to overground walking, and observed that treadmill walking significantly reduced LyES – i.e., decreased local dynamic variability (Terrier & Dériaz, 2011). Notably, despite the relatively simple nature of these movement patterns, there was a high degree of interindividual variability.

#### **Cognitive Control**

A substantial body of evidence demonstrates a relationship between cognitive and motor functions (Allali et al., 2008; Beauchet et al., 2012; Herman et al., 2010; IJmker & Lamoth, 2012; Mirelman et al., 2012; Yogev-Seligmann et al., 2008). In healthy adults, dual-task paradigms have been used extensively to study cognitive-motor interactions (Bishnoi & Hernandez, 2021; Spedden et al., 2017; Springer et al., 2006). Within a dual-task context, stride variability generally decreases when cognitive resources are directed away from the motor task to the cognitive task, but only if the competing cognitive demand is minimally taxing (Hausdorff, 2005; Richardson et al., 2022). However, if the demands of the cognitive task are too great, then stride variability tends to increase and motor performance generally suffers (Lövdén et al., 2008). Therefore, the ontology of that task can in-turn reveal the degree to which certain cognitive processes are important for motor control.

#### **Dual Mechanisms of Cognitive Control Framework**

Cognition is often defined by tests to capture various aspects of executive function and cognitive control, defined as "the ability to regulate, coordinate, and sequence thoughts and actions in accordance with internally maintained goals" (E. K. Miller & Cohen, 2001). Historically, theories to explain these abilities characterize them as relatively static traits that change over long durations, as with aging or in different disease states (Braver & Barch, 2002; Dhanjal & Wise, 2014; Walton et al., 2015; West, 1996). On the other hand, the Dual Mechanisms of Control (DMC) framework was developed to define moment-to-moment variability in cognitive control that occurs in everyday living (Braver, 2012). In this framework, the focus is shifted towards characterizing the temporal dynamics that may explain the intrinsic variability as a key component of cognitive processes.

According to the DMC framework, there are two semi-independent control modes or strategies. Reactive control strategies only recruit attentional resources on an 'as-needed' basis, as a corrective mechanism when errors or conflicts are detected between observation and expectation. On the other hand, proactive control is anticipatory in nature and pre-allocates those same resources in preparation for future goal-relevant information. Proactive and reactive control strategies allow for both anticipatory and adaptive responses in gait to changes in the environment (Potocanac et al., 2015; Richardson et al., 2022; Wagner et al., 2019). Thus, the DMC model provides a useful framework in relating stride variability to the temporal dynamics of cognitive control strategies — i.e., moment-to-moment reconfiguration of these strategies— to optimize performance.

There are notable theoretical and mathematical parallels between Braver's dual modes of cognitive control and DuBois' anticipatory processes (Amon et al., 2018). Although these relationships have not been formally tested, the DMC framework lends a strong neuroanatomical basis through which they may be plausibly biologically linked. Specifically, proactive control requires sustained, anticipatory lateral prefrontal cortex (PFC) activity to bias attentional resources to future goal-specific cues. Such environmental monitoring probably requires phasic dopaminergic input from the basal ganglia, whereas reactive control requires transient recruitment of the lateral PFC in unison with a more diffuse error detection network (Braver et al., 2021). The DMC framework has been used extensively to study schizophrenia, a disease characterized by behavioral variability and lateral PFC dysfunction (Barch & Ceaser, 2012). For example, associations between high response-time variability have been attributed to poor proactive control and a greater reliance on reactive strategies in schizophrenic patients (Chidharom et al., 2021). However, it may be difficult to extend results from cognitive tasks (e.g. 'Go/NoGo') to complex, whole-body movements.

One EEG-based study of 22 healthy younger adults demonstrated that compared to sitting, walking amplified the neural correlates of proactive control and diminished the neural correlates of reactive control (Richardson, 2022). These findings were largely consistent with observations from the aging literature: That the ability to perform context maintenance and rely on proactive strategies appears to decline in healthy aging (Haarmann et al., 2005), but those with mild cognitive impairment exhibit the most pronounced performance decrements during dual-task walking (Bishnoi & Hernandez, 2021). Richardson and colleagues noted in their study that the neural responses induced during walking increased as the task became more difficult.

They interpreted their findings to mean that a fronto-executive network might come 'online' during walking, but at the cost of a conflict-monitoring network.

General support for this interpretation is offered by a study of prefrontal cortex oxygenation in older adults that reported increased oxygenation variability—a purported measure of neural efficiency—in response to a dual-task-walking paradigm compared to walking alone, an effect that was amplified among those with cognitive impairment (Holtzer et al., 2020). However, given the inter-individual variability that these studies on the neural correlates of gait observed, both in brain and behavioral measures, it is also possible that individual differences in the intrinsic properties of these networks might themselves be important for understanding movement variability. Indeed, recent empirical research distinguishes both intra-individual (relating to state) and inter-individual (relating to trait) as sources of variation in cognitive control strategies (Braver et al., 2007).

#### Neural Correlates of Gait Variability and Cognitive Control

The question of the source of inter- and intra-individual differences in both stride variability and cognitive control strategies has led researchers to explore the neural mechanisms underlying these phenomena. Numerous studies have observed a relationship between features of the brain captured at rest and gait parameters (Beauchet et al., 2015; Lo et al., 2017, 2017; Verlinden et al., 2016; Wilson et al., 2019) and cognition (Cole et al., 2012; Dosenbach et al., 2007; McIntosh, 2000; Reineberg et al., 2015; Reineberg & Banich, 2016) measured outside of the magnet. For instance, Lo and colleagues (2021) observed in older adults that greater stride variability, defined by the coefficient of variation in stride time, was associated with greater resting-state functional connectivity — correlations in the blood oxygen level-dependent signal as measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) — among and between intrinsic connectivity networks.

These high-order, complex cognitive processes are not isolated to a single region or circuit, but instead rely on interactions between hub regions across the whole brain. Researchers have defined and characterized regions that support a wide range of behaviors required for cognitive control to identify a robust and diffuse cognitive control network (Cole & Schneider, 2007; Dosenbach et al., 2008; Vincent et al., 2008). The cognitive control network, also referred to as the multiple-demand network (Camilleri et al., 2018), is comprised of various cortical regions, including regions such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), anterior cingulate cortex/pre-supplementary motor area (ACC/pSMA), inferior frontal junction, and posterior parietal cortex (PCC). This network has provided a useful framework for an extensive number of studies that have sought to characterize alterations of cognitive control in aging and a wide variety of clinical populations (Alústiza et al., 2017; Campbell et al., 2012; Ray et al., 2017; Shine et al., 2013).

Preliminary findings from the ongoing Dual Mechanisms of Cognitive Control Project (Braver et al., 2021) reveals a set of 35 fronto-parietal regions that demonstrate consistent cognitive control demands across a range of tasks designed to modulate proactive and reactive cognitive control strategies. Most of the regions in this set are in areas labeled in the Schaefer atlas as part of the control, salience/ventral attention, or dorsal attention networks. Bilateral regions in the DLPFC, ACC/pSMA, and anterior insular/frontal operculum were the most robustly activated, revealing great parallel with prior work in the cognitive control or multiple-demand network. The modulation of the neural signature of cognitive control under reactive conditions was characterized by a general reduction in activation, although a distinct neural

signature of proactive control has yet to be identified. Braver suggests that this diverse network of frontoparietal regions might serve as a 'core network', consistently adaptive to demands in cognitive control for a wide range of tasks.

Despite an established motor-cognition relationship, and evidence of the neural correlates of both stride variability and cognitive function, there is only a small amount of research that has been conducted to understand the shared neural correlates between stride time variability and cognition. Studies comparing older adults with and without a neurodegenerative disease (Beauchet et al., 2019) or mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (Ali et al., 2022; Beauchet et al., 2015; Sakurai et al., 2021) indirectly test this hypothesis. For instance, Beauchet and colleagues (2015) observed that hippocampal volume was positively associated with a coefficient of variation in stride time, but only in cognitively healthy adults and not in those with MCI. However, this provides limited evidence on the shared neural origins of gait variability and cognitive control given that the association between the observed brain differences were not directly associated with cognitive control.

#### **BOLD Signal Variability**

While studies which have assessed brain structure or function, using functional connectivity or graph theoretical metrics, have brought insight into the organization of the brain that is important for these motor-cognitive relationships, these are static measures— and thus likely do not capture the temporal dynamics of the brain's (re)configurations that may underly moment-to-moment behavioral variability (Garrett, Samanez-Larkin, et al., 2013). Just as with gait variability, the variability of the BOLD signal captured with fMRI was once thought to represent noise but has more recently been proposed to represent the facilitation of shifting between states of integration versus segregation (Tognoli & Kelso, 2014). In the context of brain

networks, greater integration is characterized by greater density of connections *between* networks rather than within, and greater segregation is characterized by greater connections *within* a network and less dense connections to other networks, with 'small-world' networks being an economical balance of both models (Bassett & Bullmore, 2006). Thus, a network with high BOLD signal variability or neural flexibility is thought to be capable of adapting or rearranging its configuration or state, illustrative of a greater dynamic repertoire (Fuchs et al., 2007; McIntosh et al., 2008; Nomi et al., 2017).

Extensive research has sought to elucidate the relevance of brain BOLD signal variability for behavior. In general, greater BOLD variability, usually computed as the standard deviation of the BOLD timeseries, is associated with greater accuracy and faster, less variable response times on cognitive tasks ranging from working memory, task-switching, to attention and perception in younger and older adults (Armbruster-Genç et al., 2016; Garrett et al., 2011, 2014; Garrett, Kovacevic, et al., 2013; Grady & Garrett, 2018). Another study in 8 to 33-year-olds using EEG sought to investigate the relationship between neural variability and response accuracy and variability. With increasing age, participants exhibited less variable response times and greater accuracy on a face-recognition task. Though seemingly counterintuitive, this decrease in behavioral variability was associated with greater neural variability, as operationalized by multiscale entropy, demonstrating that these patterns are consistently observed across measurement techniques (EEG and MRI).

Generally, BOLD signal variability appears to increase in adolescence and decrease into adulthood, however these trajectories in BOLD variability appear to be task and region or network-specific (Nomi et al., 2017). This is in line with a recent study comparing performance on a range of cognitive tasks encompassing cognitive control in Alzheimer's disease patients and

healthy controls (Good et al., 2020). Their results revealed that greater BOLD variability in the medial temporal lobe and occipital cortex was related to better cognitive control/speed performance but worse memory scores. While this lends to the growing set of literature linking BOLD signal variability to cognitive abilities, it remains unclear to what degree BOLD variability modulates the dynamic balance between proactive and reactive control strategies and how this pattern is characterized in fronto-parietal regions identified for their robust activations in the DMCC framework (i.e., a 'DMCC' network).

#### **Summary of Literature Review**

This review of the literature highlights the research that has been conducting in characterizing gait variability, cognitive control, and the underlying neural correlates that gives rise to these behaviors in humans. While there is evidence of strong and weak anticipation, which has great theoretical overlap with proactive and reactive cognitive control strategies, relating to long- and short-term variability in biological systems, the relation of cognitive control in this framework to gait variability is not well understood. Given that there is a strong and diverse set of literature that has observed a relationship between cognitive abilities and gait, they plausibly have shared neural correlates or biological underpinnings. Preliminary findings from the DMCC Project reports a set of frontoparietal regions, which parallel prior work in a cognitive control network, that are robustly active across a wide range of cognitive tasks that modulate control demand. One metric to characterize the brain assesses the variability of the BOLD signal, which is assessed using fMRI, and has been related to motor control and is thought to represent neural flexibility and support cognitive control. While it has not been formally tested, the dynamics of BOLD variability in this set of frontoparietal regions likely underlies important relationships between cognitive control strategies and gait variability.

#### CHAPTER III: METHODS

### **Overview of Research Design**

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between short- and longterm stride time variability and utilization of reactive and proactive cognitive control strategies. An additional aim was to determine the underlying neural correlates that explains these motorcognitive relationships. Cross-sectional data on a stepping-in-place dynamic balance task (AccWalker), performance on the DPX task, and resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) were collected. Associations between short- and long-term stride time variability and performance on the DPX task (proactive behavioral index) were assessed and, lastly, a multivariate analysis was used to identify a pattern of BOLD signal variability in an underlying brain functional network that jointly explains these motor-cognitive relationships.

### **Participants**

Young adults between the ages of 18-35 years old from the local community were recruited to participate in the study using flyers, email announcements, and social media. Individuals who expressed interest completed an online MRI safety screening form and a general health and demographic survey on REDCap. Eligibility criteria included no known diagnoses of neurological, psychiatric, or gait disorders.

## **Experimental Design**

All participants came to the Joint School of Nanoscience and Nanoengineering (JSNN) for one visit to complete balance and cognitive testing, as well as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Participants were instructed to avoid caffeine, alcohol, and exercising 12 hours prior to the study. Upon arrival at JSNN, participants were consented and screened using a questionnaire to ensure they had no contraindications for MRI before carrying out the protocol.

#### Protocol

#### **Dot Probe Expectancy Task**

The AX-Continuous Performance Test (AX-CPT) has become increasingly used to test cognitive control and contextual processing given its simplicity and ease of implementation and has been applied in various populations (Barch et al., 2009; Chatham et al., 2009; Chun et al., 2018). In the current study, participants completed a modified version of the AX-CPT, called the dot-probe expectancy (DPX) task while seated at a computer. Compared to the letters of the traditional AXCPT task, the unfamiliar dot/braille patterns used in the DPX increase the difficulty of the task, an advantage given the recruitment of relatively healthy young adults in the current study. The task requires that participants make a target button push (the letter 'L' key) when a configuration of dots representing the cue is followed by a configuration of dots representing the probe (typically defined as an "AX" trial) and inhibit that button response in all other trials (instead pressing the letter 'A' key). The task consists of 4 blocks of 160 trials each. All sets contained the same proportion of trials (AX = 68.75%, AY = 12.5%, BX = 12.5%, BY = 5%) but the cue-probe delay varies: Two blocks consist of a short (1 sec) or known cue-probe delay (160 trials; ~4 minutes) and two blocks of long ( $3 \pm 0.5$  sec) or jittered cue-probe delay (160 trials; ~8 minutes). All blocks were presented in a counter-balanced order (i.e., short blocks were completed before the long for the first participant, and vice-verse for the second participant).

#### AccWalker

Recently, smartphone applications have utilized sensors embedded within the phone as a feasible way to capture spatial and temporal metrics of gait and balance. This is particularly useful since smartphones are relatively cheap, portable, and feasible to use out in the field. Of the

mobile device applications that are available to monitor static or dynamic balance and have been tested, only 38% evaluated its validity and only 23% assessed the reliability of their device (Roeing et al., 2017). The AccWalker application was developed as a portable tool to capture dynamic balance or neuromotor control in the field and currently can be used on Android phones (Kuznetsov et al., 2018). AccWalker was designed to quantify thigh and trunk orientation during a dynamic balance task and was shown to produce reliable and valid spatiotemporal variables when tested against a motion capture system (Kuznetsov et al., 2018).

The standard AccWalker protocol involves two trials of each of three conditions: stepping-in-place with eyes open and gaze fixed at a crosshair, stepping-in-place with eyes closed, and lastly stepping-in-place with gaze fixed at a crosshair while rotating the head back and forth. This study utilized only the eyes open condition to assess baseline, intrinsic variability in gait when visual and vestibular sensory inputs are not disturbed. Normally, each trial is seventy seconds in duration, with an audible metronome (period = 0.575 seconds, or 1.74 Hz) beeping for the first ten seconds. Participants are instructed to synchronize their steps to the metronome and continue stepping at that pace for the remaining sixty seconds. In the current study, trials were extended to 180 seconds (3 minutes) in order to capture enough strides to adequately compute the short- and long-term components of variability using the Lyapunov exponent (Terrier & Dériaz, 2013). Thus, each participant completed one, thirty second practice followed by two three-minute trials of the eyes open condition.

#### Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

MRI has been used for more than three decades to image human tissue *in vivo* and is safe given that participants are properly screened for contraindications prior to scanning. Screened participants were be placed in the bore of the 3T Siemens Magnetom scanner with a 16-channel

head coil for structural (sMRI) and functional (fMRI) measurements that took approximately 25 minutes. First, a brief (10 second) localizer scan was used to center subsequent scans. Next, sMRI was performed using a high-resolution, T1-weighted MPRAGE sequence (FoV: 256 x 256; 224 sagittal slices; slice thickness = 1mm; TE = 4.18 ms; Flip Angle = 12 degrees; PEdir = AP) lasting approximately 7 minutes. fMRI was performed using a T2\*-weighted sequence (70 oblique slices; slice thickness = 3mm, no gap; TE = 30 ms; TR = 2.6 seconds; Flip Angle = 79 degrees; PEdir = AP; GRAPPA Factor = 2) lasting approximately 12 minutes. Finally, gradient echo and spin-echo fieldmaps were collected (3 minutes) for offline susceptibility distortion correction.

#### **Data Processing**

#### **Proactive Behavioral Shift Index (PBI)**

Reaction times and accuracies, computed using Python, were imported into Microsoft Excel and the proactive behavioral shift index (PBI) was computed for each participant using AY and BX error rates according to the equation below (Braver et al., 2009), where E<sub>AY</sub> and E<sub>BX</sub> represent the error rate for AY and BX trials, respectively. A correction was made for trials which had some errors equal to zero (error +0.5)/(trial type frequency + 1) (Braver et al., 2009). The PBI metric was computed from the error rates of the short known cue-probe delay trials, given its ability to differentiate cognitive control strategies in young adults (Janowich & Cavanagh, 2018). The PBI is a composite measure of the strength of context processing and varies between -1 to +1. Scores closer to +1 indicate greater use of a proactive strategy is, while scores closer to -1 is represent greater utilization of a reactive control strategy.

$$PBI = \frac{E_{AY} - E_{BX}}{E_{AY} + E_{BX}}$$

## Lyapunov Exponent (LyE)

Data was imported into Matlab 2022a (Mathworks, Natick MD). A timeseries of acceleration parameters is imported into Matlab and filtered using a 5 Hz low-pass Butterworth filter. Time between minima (milliseconds) in the velocity timeseries were extracted to represent stride times. Following the recommendations of Raffalt and colleagues (2019), each timeseries was standardized to 145 strides and 14,500 data points and reconstructed in state space using delay embedding. Appropriate time delay and dimension for embedding was computed using the average mutual information and false nearest neighbor algorithm (Bruijn et al., 2013; Rosenstein et al., 1993). For this sample, the time delay and embedding dimension were on average  $30.3 \pm 2.9$  and  $6.6 \pm 0.6$  for the anterior-posterior direction. Thus, state space was reconstructed using a time delay of 30 and an embedding dimension of 7 for the anterior-posterior direction. LyE was then calculated with custom Matlab scripts and extracted over 0 -1 strides to represent short-term variability (LyES) and 4-10 strides to represent long-term variability (LyEL). The LyES and LyEL were average for the two trials for each participant, and thus every participant had one value each for LyES and LyEL.

#### sMRI and fMRI Preprocessing

Data was converted from raw DICOM to NIFTI and organized according to the BIDS standard before being uploaded to *longleaf*, the high-performance cluster hosted by UNC Chapel Hill. sMRI and fMRI data was preprocessed using fMRIPrep (Esteban et al., 2019). fMRI data was truncated to minutes 2-12 to capture only resting-state and remove an initial 2-minute 'breath-hold' procedure that is not associated with the current project. Briefly, the fMRIPrep pipeline involves motion correction, susceptibility distortion correction, normalization, brain extraction, and surface-based registration. This pipeline includes specific and heavily referenced

boilerplate language: Results included in this manuscript come from preprocessing performed using fMRIPrep 22.1.1 (Esteban et al., 2019; RRID:SCR\_016216), which is based on Nipype 1.8.5 (Gorgolewski et al., 2011; RRID:SCR\_002502).

*Preprocessing of B0 inhomogeneity mappings*. A total of 2 fieldmaps were found available within the input BIDS structure for this particular subject. A B0 nonuniformity map (or fieldmap) was estimated from the phase-drift map(s) measure with two consecutive GRE (gradient-recalled echo) acquisitions. The corresponding phase-map(s) were phase-unwrapped with prelude (FSL 6.0.5.1:57b01774). A B0-nonuniformity map (or fieldmap) was estimated based on two (or more) echo-planar imaging (EPI) references with topup (Andersson et al., 2003; FSL 6.0.5.1:57b01774).

Anatomical data preprocessing. A total of 1 T1-weighted (T1w) images were found within the input BIDS dataset. The T1-weighted (T1w) image was corrected for intensity nonuniformity (INU) with N4BiasFieldCorrection (Tustison et al., 2010), distributed with ANTs 2.3.3 (Avants et al., 2008; RRID:SCR\_004757), and used as T1w-reference throughout the workflow. The T1w-reference was then skull-stripped with a Nipype implementation of the antsBrainExtraction.sh workflow (from ANTs), using OASIS30ANTs as target template. Brain tissue segmentation of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), white-matter (WM) and gray-matter (GM) was performed on the brain-extracted T1w using fast (FSL 6.0.5.1:57b01774, RRID:SCR\_002823, Zhang et al., 2001). Brain surfaces were reconstructed using recon-all (FreeSurfer 7.2.0, RRID:SCR\_001847, Dale et al., 1999), and the brain mask estimated previously was refined with a custom variation of the method to reconcile ANTs-derived and FreeSurfer-derived segmentations of the cortical gray-matter of Mindboggle (RRID:SCR\_002438, Klein et al., 2017). Volume-based spatial normalization to two standard spaces (MNI152NLin2009cAsym,

MNI152NLin6Asym) was performed through nonlinear registration with antsRegistration (ANTs 2.3.3), using brain-extracted versions of both T1w reference and the T1w template. The following templates were selected for spatial normalization: ICBM 152 Nonlinear Asymmetrical template version 2009c [Fonov et al., 2009, RRID:SCR\_008796; TemplateFlow ID: MNI152NLin2009cAsym], FSL's MNI ICBM 152 non-linear 6th Generation Asymmetric Average Brain Stereotaxic Registration Model [Evans et al., 2012, RRID:SCR\_002823; TemplateFlow ID: MNI152NLin6Asym].

*Functional data preprocessing*. For each of the 1 BOLD runs found per subject (across all tasks and sessions), the following preprocessing was performed. First, a reference volume and its skull-stripped version were generated using a custom methodology of fMRIPrep. Headmotion parameters with respect to the BOLD reference (transformation matrices, and six corresponding rotation and translation parameters) are estimated before any spatiotemporal filtering using mcflirt (FSL 6.0.5.1:57b01774, Jenkinson et al., 2002). The estimated fieldmap was then aligned with rigid-registration to the target EPI (echo-planar imaging) reference run. The field coefficients were mapped on to the reference EPI using the transform. BOLD runs were slice-time corrected to 1.29s (0.5 of slice acquisition range 0s-2.57s) using 3dTshift from AFNI (Cox & Hyde, 1997, RRID:SCR\_005927). The BOLD reference was then co-registered to the T1w reference using bbregister (FreeSurfer) which implements boundary-based registration (Greve & Fischl, 2009).

Co-registration was configured with six degrees of freedom. Several confounding timeseries were calculated based on the preprocessed BOLD: framewise displacement (FD), DVARS and three region-wise global signals. FD was computed using two formulations following Power (absolute sum of relative motions, Power et al., 2014) and Jenkinson (relative root mean square

displacement between affines, Jenkinson et al., 2002). FD and DVARS are calculated for each functional run, both using their implementations in Nipype (following the definitions by Power et al., 2014). The three global signals are extracted within the CSF, the WM, and the whole-brain masks. Additionally, a set of physiological regressors were extracted to allow for component-based noise correction (CompCor, Behzadi et al., 2007). Principal components are estimated after high-pass filtering the preprocessed BOLD time-series (using a discrete cosine filter with 128s cut-off) for the two CompCor variants: temporal (tCompCor) and anatomical (aCompCor). tCompCor components are then calculated from the top 2% variable voxels within the brain mask. For aCompCor, three probabilistic masks (CSF, WM and combined CSF+WM) are generated in anatomical space.

The implementation differs from that of Behzadi et al., 2007 in that instead of eroding the masks by 2 pixels on BOLD space, a mask of pixels that likely contain a volume fraction of GM is subtracted from the aCompCor masks. This mask is obtained by dilating a GM mask extracted from the FreeSurfer's aseg segmentation, and it ensures components are not extracted from voxels containing a minimal fraction of GM. Finally, these masks are resampled into BOLD space and binarized by thresholding at 0.99 (as in the original implementation). Components are also calculated separately within the WM and CSF masks. For each CompCor decomposition, the k components with the largest singular values are retained, such that the retained components' time series are sufficient to explain 50 percent of variance across the nuisance mask (CSF, WM, combined, or temporal). The remaining components are dropped from consideration.

The head-motion estimates calculated in the correction step were also placed within the corresponding confounds file. The confound time series derived from head motion estimates and global signals were expanded with the inclusion of temporal derivatives and quadratic terms for

each (Satterthwaite et al., 2013). Frames that exceeded a threshold of 0.5 mm FD or 1.5 standardized DVARS were annotated as motion outliers. Additional nuisance timeseries are calculated by means of principal components analysis of the signal found within a thin band (crown) of voxels around the edge of the brain, as proposed by (Patriat et al., 2017). The BOLD time-series were resampled onto the following surfaces (FreeSurfer reconstruction nomenclature): fsaverage. Grayordinates files (Glasser et al., 2013) containing 91k samples were also generated using the highest-resolution fsaverage as intermediate standardized surface space. All resamplings can be performed with a single interpolation step by composing all the pertinent transformations (i.e. head-motion transform matrices, susceptibility distortion correction when available, and co-registrations to anatomical and output spaces). Gridded (volumetric) resamplings were performed using antsApplyTransforms (ANTs), configured with Lanczos interpolation to minimize the smoothing effects of other kernels(Lanczos, 1964). Non-gridded (surface) resamplings were performed using mri\_vol2surf (FreeSurfer).

Many internal operations of fMRIPrep use Nilearn 0.9.1 (Abraham et al., 2014, RRID:SCR\_001362), mostly within the functional processing workflow. For more details of the pipeline, see the section corresponding to workflows in fMRIPrep's documentation (https://fmriprep.readthedocs.io/en/latest/workflows.html). The above boilerplate text was automatically generated by fMRIPrep and is released under the CC0 license.

The primary output from this pipeline is a pre-processed surface-mapped dense BOLD timeseries (91k greyordinates). The pipeline also outputs nuisance regressors representing physiological noise that was used in a subsequent step to 'clean' the dense timeseries using the *ciftify* toolbox (Dickie et al., 2019). Specifically, high-pass filtering, to remove scanner drift at and below .0008 Hz, was performed using a discrete cosine transform basis set. Components

from the cerebrospinal fluid and white matter that each explained 50% of the variance in the BOLD signal were removed and head motion was corrected by regression in 24 parameters and using framewise displacement and the derivative of its variance (DVARS) as additional regressors (Parkes et al., 2018; Power et al., 2014).

#### **BOLD** signal variability

The cleaned, surface-mapped BOLD data (91k greyordinates) was imported into Matlab and BOLD variability was computed as the root mean square of successive differences (RMSSD) in the BOLD signal timeseries. In the equation for RMSSD below, *zTS* is the *z*-scored value of the BOLD signal (TS) at time *t*. The BOLD variability for each parcel was then averaged to comprise a total of 400 areas according to the standardized Schaefer atlas (Marcus et al., 2011; Schaefer et al., 2018). The BOLD variability from our 35 regions of interest (ROI) in putative dorsal attention, salience/ventral attention, and control networks were extracted such that each participant is represented by a vector of 35 BOLD variability values (see Appendix 1 for a list of the 35 ROIs).

$$RMSSD = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (zTS_{t+1} - zTS_t)^2}{length(TS) - 1}}$$

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Statistical analyses were performed using Matlab 2020a. A Pearson correlation was conducted to determine the association between PBI and short-term variability (LyES) and, separately, PBI and long-term variability (LyEL). A partial least squares correlation (McIntosh & Lobaugh, 2004) was then run to determine if there was a pattern of brain BOLD signal variability in the 35 ROIs that was associated with proactive and reactive cognitive control, and LyES and LyEL (short- and long-term gait variability). Briefly, this involves decomposing a 'brain' matrix (20 rows x 35 columns) and a 'behavior' matrix (20 rows x 3 columns), where each row represents a participant and each column is their score for PBI, LyES, and LyEL. The brain-behavior correlation matrix was parsed into a vector of singular values and saliences, resulting in three latent variables that represent the optimal covariance between some pattern of BOLD signal variability and a behavior. After 10,000 permutations, latent variables with less than 500 permutations yielding greater singular values than observed were kept as significant. Boot strap resampling (1000x) revealed ROIs that contributed most to this observed salience. See Figure 1 for a schematic of the brain data processing and statistical methods.





Note. The root means square of successive differences (RMSSD) was computed for each clean times series (A) to represent BOLD variability (B) and was parcellated using a standardized atlas (C). A resulting brain matrix (D), where each row represents the BOLD variability in the 35 ROIs for one subject, was multiplied by a behavior matrix, where each row represents a subject's proactive behavioral shift index (PBI), short Lyapunov exponent (LyES), and long Lyapunov exponent (LyEL). The resultant correlation matrix then underwent singular value decomposition (E), revealing 3 latent variables for which p-values are generated through 10,000 permutations of the original data. Boot strap resampling revealed brain regions that contributed most to this relationship (>2 standard deviations).

## CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

Data was collected on 20 participants, which were between the ages of 19 - 33 years old (average =  $23.6 \pm 3.9$  years). See Table 1 for a summary of demographic information. Two of the twenty participants were on medication (subject 1: anorectic medication and subject 2: glucocorticoid, SSRI, and benzodiazepine). All participants were free of neurological, psychiatric, or gait-related disorders, however, one patient reported having a concussion approximately 1.5 weeks prior to the study (no loss of consciousness).

**Table 1. Demographic Information** 

Biological Sex	10 Male /10 Female			
Age (years)	$23.6\pm3.9$			
Race and Ethnicity	60% White 10% Asian 10% Hispanic 5% Black or African American 15% Other (listed 2)			
Average height (inches)	$66.4 \pm 2.8$			
Average weight (lbs)	$162.1 \pm 35.22$			
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$26.0 \pm 6.1$			
Dominant Hand (% Right)	90			
Dominant Leg (% Right)	95			
Mean Proactive Behavioral Shift Index (PBI)	$0.252\pm0.40$			
Mean Lyapunov Exponent	LyES = $0.63 \pm 0.06$ LyEL = $0.06 \pm 0.01$			

There was no significant correlation between PBI and LyES (r(19) = 0.235, p = 0.318; Figure 2A) or PBI and LyEL (r(19) = 0.223, p = 0.346; Figure 2B). A partial least squares (PLS) correlation analysis revealed one significant latent variable (Permutation p = 0.0323) explaining 87% of the cross-block covariance in the brain-behavior model. This latent variable represented a weighted sum of brain BOLD variability in the 35 ROIs (so-called 'brainscore') that was positively correlated to both LyES and LyEL and was not correlated with PBI (Figure 3A). All regions with boot strap ratios (BSR) in the 95% confidence interval are highlighted in Figure 3B. Brain regions that contributed most strongly to this relationship were the PCFl\_5 ROI (Parcel 139) in the control network (BSR = 4.84) and the FrOperIns\_9 (Parcel 5) and FrOperIns\_7 (Parcel 103) in the salience/ventral attention network (BSR = 3.74 and 3.64, respectively). A post-hoc regression analysis revealed different slopes between brainscore (predictor) and exponent (outcome) based on 'type' (long vs. short; moderator) (t(36) = -2.372, p = 0.023; Figure 3C).



**Figure 2. Proactive Behavioral Shift Index – Lyapunov Exponent Correlations** 

**Proactive Behavioral Shift Index (PBI)** 





Note. A) Bar plot depicting the results of the partial least squares correlation (PLS), representing the correlation between a pattern of BOLD variability in the 35 ROIs and the proactive behavioral shift index (PBI), and the short and long Lyapunov exponents (LyES and LyEL) (p = 0.0323), B) Brain model highlighting the boot strap ratios of the ROIs that significantly contributed to the observed salience, such that as the color shifts from yellow to red, the regions extend beyond 2-3 standard deviations and contribute more strongly to the behavior salience. C) A scatter plot of the LyE (short and long) versus participant's 'brainscore', or the degree to which they represented the pattern in (A).

#### CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to test the hypothesis that individual differences in cognitive control and motor control are related through functional variability of brain areas previously implicated in cognitive control. Previous research supports a relationship between gait variability and cognitive abilities (Allali et al., 2008; Beauchet et al., 2012; Herman et al., 2010; IJmker & Lamoth, 2012; Mirelman et al., 2012; Yogev-Seligmann et al., 2008) and that task-driven neural variability is associated with both cognition (Braver et al., 2009) and motor performance (Haar et al., 2017; Holtzer et al., 2020). However, intrinsic brain functional properties have proven clinically relevant in populations that cannot perform cognitive or motor tasks (Fox & Greicius, 2010). Indeed, one of the earliest findings from resting-state fMRI findings was an overlap between resting-connectivity and task-activation in the motor cortex (Biswal et al., 1995). In partial support of our second hypothesis, our primary and novel finding was a pattern of brain BOLD signal variability in 35 areas defining a putative cognitive control network that was related to stride time variability.

Our results revealed that greater BOLD variability in 35 frontoparietal regions was associated with greater movement variability as defined by the Lyapunov exponent over a window of 0-1 strides (LyES) and, to a lesser extent, over a window of 4-10 strides (LyEL). The difference in strength of the correlation may in part be due to the wider spread of LyES values compared to LyEL, which is consistent with reports from prior literature (Mehdizadeh, 2018). This demonstrates notable parallels with prior studies that relate behavioral/kinematic variability and task-driven neural variability. For example, greater variability in oxygenated hemoglobin measured over the prefrontal cortex using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) was associated with greater stride variability as task difficulty increased among older adults (Holtzer et al., 2020). A different study of young adults reported greater inter-trial variability in the BOLD signal during an out-and-back reaching task in the scanner that was associated with greater arm movement variability (Haar et al., 2017). Overall, there appears a positive correlation between neural variability and movement variability across the lifespan. However, it is not known whether these patterns represent individual differences in muscle recruitment, effort, or motor control strategies. The findings of the current study replicate and extend these patterns and represent the first to demonstrate a relationship between variability in resting brain BOLD signal and gait variability.

These brain areas were selected based on prior work by Braver et al. (2021) demonstrating their role in performing a similar cognitive control task. In support of Hypothesis 2, a region in the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex had the highest predictive value (PFCl\_5, BSR = 4.84) in its association with the Lyapunov exponent, such that individuals exhibiting the greatest BOLD variability in this region also exhibited the greatest stride time variability during the stepping-in-place task. Interestingly, this pattern of BOLD variability was predominantly left-lateralized. Dorsolateral prefrontal cortical interactions are thought to play a central role in attentional control and integration of sensory information important for directing goal-relevant behavior (Jiang et al., 2015; B. T. Miller & D'Esposito, 2005; E. K. Miller & Cohen, 2001), and further research has explored its role in inhibitory responses in motor control (Krämer et al., 2013). Recently, Thompson et al. (2021) reported that increases in BOLD variability in an 'inhibition network', which had high connectivity to the lateral PFC, related to better inhibitory performance in young adults. It is possible to speculate that greater variability in this network may represent a high capacity to flexibly modulate its activity in coordination with other brain networks and be important for the maintenance of optimal gait during a guided task (Jiang et al.,

2015). Future research to extend and replicate these findings in older adult samples, who exhibit altered patterns of BOLD variability (Good et al., 2020; Rieck et al., 2022), may open the door to an improved understanding of movement variability during a stepping-in-place task as a biomarker of brain health.

It was surprising that this same pattern of BOLD variability did not also relate to PBI, given that the areas were specifically selected for their putative role in cognitive control. The incongruency in results may arise from uncertainties in localizing task-activations to cortical areas using a volume-based approach, as Braver et al. (2021) did. Volume-based registration, as compared to the surface-based approach used here, result in a greater degree of uncertainty, particularly for cortical areas that are characterized by deep grooves and display high inter-individual morphological variability (Coalson et al., 2018). Thus, it is possible that the ROIs selected here are not identical to those frontoparietal regions identified by Braver et al. (2021) even though they were developed using the same parcellation approach (Schaefer et al., 2018).

On the other hand, the hypothesized univariate relationships between PBI and LyE were also not supported. While proactive cognitive control relies on strong anticipation in a neuroanatomical framework proposed by Braver, this may not reflect the theoretical model of anticipation defined by Dubois (2003), designed to characterize independent anticipatory capabilities during synchronization behaviors. While the stepping-in-place task (AccWalker) begins with an audible metronome to guide the participant's stepping pace, there is no cue during the cycles used to compute LyE, and thus may not lend toward coupling or synchronization as observed in signals of anticipatory biological systems (Stephen et al., 2008; Stepp & Turvey, 2010). Furthermore, given the wide distribution of PBI scores in the current sample ( $0.252 \pm$ 

0.40), it is equally possible that the heterogeneity observed in the current sample may not be representative of a young adult population (Janowich & Cavanagh, 2018).

#### Limitations

Despite the novel findings reported here, this study is not without limitations. Given our sample size (n = 20), a Pearson correlation would only be sensitive to detect the effects of r =0.58 with 80% power, (two-tailed, alpha = 0.05; Faul et al., 2007). However, it is important to consider that most studies observing motor-cognitive relationships typically report only small to moderate effect sizes (Demnitz et al., 2016). Another potential limitation was an audible noise from the MRI equipment (cooling pump) in the scanning suite where the behavioral data, including the stepping-in-place task, was collected. It is possible that participants gradually adjusted their pace over the 3-minute stepping trial to match the frequency of the MRI pump, approximately 2.3 Hz (which is faster than the prescribed stepping-rate of 1.7 Hz for AccWalker), and thus may have confounded the measures of gait variability. Finally, future studies should consider including the analysis of task-negative brain functional networks, such as the default mode network, given extensive evidence of its relation to individual differences in motor behaviors (Crockett et al., 2017; Lo et al., 2017, 2021) and cognitive control (Leech et al., 2011; Rieck et al., 2022), as well as it sensitivity to aging and disease (Bai et al., 2008; Greicius et al., 2004; Hafkemeijer et al., 2012).

#### Conclusions

To the author's knowledge this is the first report of a pattern of resting brain BOLD signal variability that relates to gait variability. The lack of a relationship observed here between cognitive control strategies and either movement variability or intrinsic properties of a cognitive control brain network reinforces the complex nature of motor-cognition relationships and calls for future research to further explore these dynamics in other populations and brain networks. These findings provide evidence of gait variability as a marker of brain variability in healthy, young adult and may open the door to understanding its role as a biomarker of brain health.

#### REFERENCES

Abraham, A., Pedregosa, F., Eickenberg, M., Gervais, P., Mueller, A., Kossaifi, J., Gramfort, A., Thirion, B., & Varoquaux, G. (2014). Machine learning for neuroimaging with scikitlearn. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 8.

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fninf.2014.00014

- Ali, P., Labriffe, M., Paisant, P., Custaud, M. A., Annweiler, C., & Dinomais, M. (2022).
  Associations between gait speed and brain structure in amnestic mild cognitive impairment: A quantitative neuroimaging study. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, *16*(1), 228–238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-021-00496-7
- Allali, G., Assal, F., Kressig, R. W., Dubost, V., Herrmann, F. R., & Beauchet, O. (2008). Impact of Impaired Executive Function on Gait Stability. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 26(4), 364–369. https://doi.org/10.1159/000162358
- Alústiza, I., Radua, J., Pla, M., Martin, R., & Ortuño, F. (2017). Meta-analysis of functional magnetic resonance imaging studies of timing and cognitive control in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: Evidence of a primary time deficit. *Schizophrenia Research*, *188*, 21–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2017.01.039
- Amon, M. J., Pavlov, O. C., & Holden, J. G. (2018). Synchronization and fractal scaling as foundations for cognitive control. *Cognitive Systems Research*, 50, 155–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsys.2018.04.010
- Andersson, J. L. R., Skare, S., & Ashburner, J. (2003). How to correct susceptibility distortions in spin-echo echo-planar images: Application to diffusion tensor imaging. *NeuroImage*, 20(2), 870–888. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00336-7

- Armbruster-Genç, D. J. N., Ueltzhöffer, K., & Fiebach, C. J. (2016). Brain Signal Variability Differentially Affects Cognitive Flexibility and Cognitive Stability. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(14), 3978–3987. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2517-14.2016
- Avants, B. B., Epstein, C. L., Grossman, M., & Gee, J. C. (2008). Symmetric diffeomorphic image registration with cross-correlation: Evaluating automated labeling of elderly and neurodegenerative brain. *Medical Image Analysis*, 12(1), 26–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.media.2007.06.004
- Bai, F., Zhang, Z., Yu, H., Shi, Y., Yuan, Y., Zhu, W., Zhang, X., & Qian, Y. (2008). Default-mode network activity distinguishes amnestic type mild cognitive impairment from healthy aging: A combined structural and resting-state functional MRI study. *Neuroscience Letters*, *438*(1), 111–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.04.021
- Barch, D. M., Braver, T. S., Carter, C. S., Poldrack, R. A., & Robbins, T. W. (2009). CNTRICS Final Task Selection: Executive Control. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 35(1), 115–135. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbn154
- Barch, D. M., & Ceaser, A. (2012). Cognition in Schizophrenia: Core Psychological and Neural Mechanisms. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 16(1), 10.1016/j.tics.2011.11.015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2011.11.015
- Bassett, D. S., & Bullmore, E. (2006). Small-World Brain Networks. *The Neuroscientist*, *12*(6), 512–523. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858406293182

Beauchet, O., Annweiler, C., Montero-Odasso, M., Fantino, B., Herrmann, F. R., & Allali, G.
(2012). Gait control: A specific subdomain of executive function? *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, *9*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-9-12

- Beauchet, O., Launay, C. P., Annweiler, C., & Allali, G. (2015). Hippocampal volume, early cognitive decline and gait variability: Which association? *Experimental Gerontology*, 61, 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.11.002
- Beauchet, O., Launay, C. P., Sekhon, H., Montembeault, M., & Allali, G. (2019). Association of hippocampal volume with gait variability in pre-dementia and dementia stages of Alzheimer disease: Results from a cross-sectional study. *Experimental Gerontology*, *115*, 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2018.11.010
- Behzadi, Y., Restom, K., Liau, J., & Liu, T. T. (2007). A component based noise correction method (CompCor) for BOLD and perfusion based fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 37(1), 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.04.042
- Bishnoi, A., & Hernandez, M. E. (2021). Dual task walking costs in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging & Mental Health*, 25(9), 1618–1629. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1802576
- Biswal, B., Yetkin, F. Z., Haughton, V. M., & Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar mri. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 34(4), 537–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Braver, T. S. (2012). The variable nature of cognitive control: A dual mechanisms framework. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *16*(2), 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2011.12.010
- Braver, T. S., & Barch, D. M. (2002). A theory of cognitive control, aging cognition, and neuromodulation. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 26(7), 809–817. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(02)00067-2

- Braver, T. S., Gray, J. R., & Burgess, G. C. (2007). Explaining the many varieties of working memory variation: Dual mechanisms of cognitive control. *Variation in Working Memory*, 75, 106.
- Braver, T. S., Kizhner, A., Tang, R., Freund, M. C., & Etzel, J. A. (2021). The Dual Mechanisms of Cognitive Control Project. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 33(9), 1990–2015. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_01768
- Braver, T. S., Paxton, J. L., Locke, H. S., & Barch, D. M. (2009). Flexible neural mechanisms of cognitive control within human prefrontal cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 106(18), 7351–7356. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808187106
- Bruijn, S. M., Meijer, O. G., Beek, P. J., & van Dieën, J. H. (2013). Assessing the stability of human locomotion: A review of current measures. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface*, *10*(83), 20120999. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2012.0999
- Bruijn, S. M., Van Impe, A., Duysens, J., & Swinnen, S. P. (2014). White matter microstructural organization and gait stability in older adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 6. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi.2014.00104
- Camilleri, J. A., Müller, V. I., Fox, P., Laird, A. R., Hoffstaedter, F., Kalenscher, T., & Eickhoff,
   S. B. (2018). Definition and characterization of an extended multiple-demand network.
   *NeuroImage*, *165*, 138–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.10.020
- Campbell, K. L., Grady, C. L., Ng, C., & Hasher, L. (2012). Age differences in the frontoparietal cognitive control network: Implications for distractibility. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(9), 2212–2223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.05.025

- Chaisanguanthum, K. S., Shen, H. H., & Sabes, P. N. (2014). Motor Variability Arises from a Slow Random Walk in Neural State. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(36), 12071–12080. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3001-13.2014
- Chatham, C. H., Frank, M. J., & Munakata, Y. (2009). Pupillometric and behavioral markers of a developmental shift in the temporal dynamics of cognitive control. *PNAS Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*, 5529–5533. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0810002106
- Chidharom, M., Krieg, J., Marques-Carneiro, E., Pham, B.-T., & Bonnefond, A. (2021).
  Investigation of electrophysiological precursors of attentional errors in schizophrenia:
  Toward a better understanding of abnormal proactive control engagement. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 140, 235–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.05.079
- Chun, C. A., Ciceron, L., & Kwapil, T. R. (2018). A meta-analysis of context integration deficits across the schizotypy spectrum using AX-CPT and DPX tasks. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 127(8), 789–806. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000383
- Coalson, T. S., Van Essen, D. C., & Glasser, M. F. (2018). The impact of traditional neuroimaging methods on the spatial localization of cortical areas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(27), E6356–E6365. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1801582115
- Cole, M. W., & Schneider, W. (2007). The cognitive control network: Integrated cortical regions with dissociable functions. *NeuroImage*, 37(1), 343–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.071

 Cole, M. W., Yarkoni, T., Repovš, G., Anticevic, A., & Braver, T. S. (2012). Global
 Connectivity of Prefrontal Cortex Predicts Cognitive Control and Intelligence. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(26), 8988–8999. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0536-12.2012

- Cox, R. W., & Hyde, J. S. (1997). Software tools for analysis and visualization of fMRI data. NMR in Biomedicine, 10(4–5), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1492(199706/08)10:4/5<171::AID-NBM453>3.0.CO;2-L
- Crockett, R. A., Hsu, C. L., Best, J. R., & Liu-Ambrose, T. (2017). Resting State Default Mode Network Connectivity, Dual Task Performance, Gait Speed, and Postural Sway in Older Adults with Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 9. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00423
- Dale, A. M., Fischl, B., & Sereno, M. I. (1999). Cortical Surface-Based Analysis: I. Segmentation and Surface Reconstruction. *NeuroImage*, 9(2), 179–194. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1998.0395
- Demnitz, N., Esser, P., Dawes, H., Valkanova, V., Johansen-Berg, H., Ebmeier, K. P., & Sexton,
  C. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis of cross-sectional studies examining
  the relationship between mobility and cognition in healthy older adults. *Gait & Posture*,
  50, 164–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2016.08.028
- Dhanjal, N. S., & Wise, R. J. S. (2014). Frontoparietal cognitive control of verbal memory recall in Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 76(2), 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24199
- Dickie, E. W., Anticevic, A., Smith, D. E., Coalson, T. S., Manogaran, M., Calarco, N., Viviano,J. D., Glasser, M. F., Van Essen, D. C., & Voineskos, A. N. (2019). ciftify: A framework

for surface-based analysis of legacy MR acquisitions. *NeuroImage*, *197*, 818–826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.04.078

- Dingwell, J. B., Cusumano, J. P., Cavanagh, P. R., & Sternad, D. (2001). Local dynamic stability versus kinematic variability of continuous overground and treadmill walking. *Journal of Biomechanical Engineering*, *123*(1), 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1115/1.1336798
- Dosenbach, N. U. F., Fair, D. A., Cohen, A. L., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2008). A dual-networks architecture of top-down control. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 12(3), 99– 105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2008.01.001
- Dosenbach, N. U. F., Fair, D. A., Miezin, F. M., Cohen, A. L., Wenger, K. K., Dosenbach, R. A. T., Fox, M. D., Snyder, A. Z., Vincent, J. L., Raichle, M. E., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2007). Distinct brain networks for adaptive and stable task control in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(26), 11073–11078. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704320104
- Dubois, D. M. (2003). Mathematical Foundations of Discrete and Functional Systems with Strong and Weak Anticipations. In M. V. Butz, O. Sigaud, & P. Gérard (Eds.), *Anticipatory Behavior in Adaptive Learning Systems: Foundations, Theories, and Systems* (pp. 110–132). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-45002-3\_7
- Esteban, O., Markiewicz, C. J., Blair, R. W., Moodie, C. A., Isik, A. I., Erramuzpe, A., Kent, J. D., Goncalves, M., DuPre, E., Snyder, M., Oya, H., Ghosh, S. S., Wright, J., Durnez, J., Poldrack, R. A., & Gorgolewski, K. J. (2019). FMRIPrep: A robust preprocessing pipeline for functional MRI. *Nature Methods*, *16*(1), 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-018-0235-4

- Evans, A. C., Janke, A. L., Collins, D. L., & Baillet, S. (2012). Brain templates and atlases. *NeuroImage*, 62(2), 911–922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.024
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Fonov, V., Evans, A., McKinstry, R., Almli, C., & Collins, D. (2009). Unbiased nonlinear average age-appropriate brain templates from birth to adulthood. *NeuroImage*, 47, S102. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1053-8119(09)70884-5
- Fox, M. D., & Greicius, M. (2010). Clinical Applications of Resting State Functional Connectivity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4, 19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2010.00019
- Fuchs, E., Ayali, A., Robinson, A., Hulata, E., & Ben-Jacob, E. (2007). Coemergence of regularity and complexity during neural network development. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 67(13), 1802–1814. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20557
- Gabell, A., & Nayak, U. S. L. (1984). The Effect of Age on Variability in Gait. Journal of Gerontology, 39(6), 662–666. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/39.6.662
- Garrett, D. D., Kovacevic, N., McIntosh, A. R., & Grady, C. L. (2011). The Importance of Being Variable. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(12), 4496–4503. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5641-10.2011
- Garrett, D. D., Kovacevic, N., McIntosh, A. R., & Grady, C. L. (2013). The Modulation of BOLD Variability between Cognitive States Varies by Age and Processing Speed. *Cerebral Cortex*, 23(3), 684–693. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs055

Garrett, D. D., McIntosh, A. R., & Grady, C. L. (2014). Brain Signal Variability is Parametrically Modifiable. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(11), 2931–2940. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht150

- Garrett, D. D., Samanez-Larkin, G. R., MacDonald, S. W. S., Lindenberger, U., McIntosh, A. R., & Grady, C. L. (2013). Moment-to-moment brain signal variability: A next frontier in human brain mapping? *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(4), 610–624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.02.015
- Glasser, M. F., Sotiropoulos, S. N., Wilson, J. A., Coalson, T. S., Fischl, B., Andersson, J. L., Xu, J., Jbabdi, S., Webster, M., Polimeni, J. R., Van Essen, D. C., & Jenkinson, M. (2013). The minimal preprocessing pipelines for the Human Connectome Project. *NeuroImage*, 80, 105–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.04.127
- Good, T. J., Villafuerte, J., Ryan, J. D., Grady, C. L., & Barense, M. D. (2020). Resting State
  BOLD Variability of the Posterior Medial Temporal Lobe Correlates with Cognitive
  Performance in Older Adults with and without Risk for Cognitive Decline. *ENeuro*, 7(3),
  ENEURO.0290-19.2020. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0290-19.2020
- Gorgolewski, K., Burns, C., Madison, C., Clark, D., Halchenko, Y., Waskom, M., & Ghosh, S. (2011). Nipype: A Flexible, Lightweight and Extensible Neuroimaging Data Processing Framework in Python. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, *5*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fninf.2011.00013
- Grady, C. L., & Garrett, D. D. (2018). Brain signal variability is modulated as a function of internal and external demand in younger and older adults. *NeuroImage*, 169, 510–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.031

- Greicius, M. D., Srivastava, G., Reiss, A. L., & Menon, V. (2004). Default-mode network activity distinguishes Alzheimer's disease from healthy aging: Evidence from functional MRI. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 101(13), 4637–4642. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308627101
- Greve, D. N., & Fischl, B. (2009). Accurate and robust brain image alignment using boundarybased registration. *NeuroImage*, 48(1), 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.060
- Haar, S., Donchin, O., & Dinstein, I. (2017). Individual Movement Variability Magnitudes Are Explained by Cortical Neural Variability. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 37(37), 9076–9085. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1650-17.2017
- Haarmann, H. J., Ashling, G. E., Davelaar, E. J., & Usher, M. (2005). Age-Related Declines in Context Maintenance and Semantic Short-Term Memory. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A*, 58(1), 34–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/02724980443000214
- Hafkemeijer, A., van der Grond, J., & Rombouts, S. A. R. B. (2012). Imaging the default mode network in aging and dementia. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis* of Disease, 1822(3), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.07.008
- Hausdorff, J. M. (2005). Gait variability: Methods, modeling and meaning. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 2(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-2-19
- Hausdorff, J. M., Edelberg, H. K., Mitchell, S. L., Goldberger, A. L., & Wei, J. Y. (1997).
  Increased gait unsteadiness in community-dwelling elderly fallers. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 78(3), 278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9993(97)90034-4

- Herman, T., Mirelman, A., Giladi, N., Schweiger, A., & Hausdorff, J. M. (2010). Executive Control Deficits as a Prodrome to Falls in Healthy Older Adults: A Prospective Study Linking Thinking, Walking, and Falling. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 65A(10), 1086–1092. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glq077
- Holtzer, R., Ross, D., & Izzetoglu, M. (2020). Intra-Individual-Variability in Neural Activity in the Prefrontal Cortex During Active Walking in Older Adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 35(8), 1201–1214. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000583
- IJmker, T., & Lamoth, C. J. C. (2012). Gait and cognition: The relationship between gait stability and variability with executive function in persons with and without dementia. *Gait & Posture*, *35*(1), 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.08.022
- Janowich, J. R., & Cavanagh, J. F. (2018). Delay knowledge and trial set count modulate use of proactive versus reactive control: A meta-analytic review. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 25(4), 1249–1268. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-018-1502-1
- Jenkinson, M., Bannister, P., Brady, M., & Smith, S. (2002). Improved Optimization for the Robust and Accurate Linear Registration and Motion Correction of Brain Images. *NeuroImage*, 17(2), 825–841. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1132
- Jiang, J., Beck, J., Heller, K., & Egner, T. (2015). An insula-frontostriatal network mediates flexible cognitive control by adaptively predicting changing control demands. *Nature Communications*, 6(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9165
- Kamm, K., Thelen, E., & Jensen, J. L. (1990). A Dynamical Systems Approach to Motor Development. *Physical Therapy*, 70(12), 763–775. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/70.12.763

Klein, A., Ghosh, S. S., Bao, F. S., Giard, J., Häme, Y., Stavsky, E., Lee, N., Rossa, B., Reuter, M., Neto, E. C., & Keshavan, A. (2017). Mindboggling morphometry of human brains. *PLOS Computational Biology*, *13*(2), e1005350.
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005350

- Krämer, U. M., Solbakk, A.-K., Funderud, I., Løvstad, M., Endestad, T., & Knight, R. T. (2013).
  The role of the lateral prefrontal cortex in inhibitory motor control. *Cortex*, 49(3), 837– 849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2012.05.003
- Kuznetsov, N. A., Robins, R. K., Long, B., Jakiela, J. T., Haran, F. J., Ross, S. E., Wright, W. G., & Rhea, C. K. (2018). Validity and reliability of smartphone orientation measurement to quantify dynamic balance function. *Physiological Measurement*, *39*(2), 02NT01. https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6579/aaa3c2
- Lanczos, C. (1964). Evaluation of Noisy Data. *Journal of the Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics Series B Numerical Analysis*, 1(1), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1137/0701007
- Leech, R., Kamourieh, S., Beckmann, C. F., & Sharp, D. J. (2011). Fractionating the Default Mode Network: Distinct Contributions of the Ventral and Dorsal Posterior Cingulate Cortex to Cognitive Control. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(9), 3217–3224. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5626-10.2011
- Lo, O.-Y., Halko, M. A., Devaney, K. J., Wayne, P. M., Lipsitz, L. A., & Manor, B. (2021). Gait Variability Is Associated With the Strength of Functional Connectivity Between the Default and Dorsal Attention Brain Networks: Evidence From Multiple Cohorts. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*, 76(10), e328–e334. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glab200

- Lo, O.-Y., Halko, M. A., Zhou, J., Harrison, R., Lipsitz, L. A., & Manor, B. (2017). Gait Speed and Gait Variability Are Associated with Different Functional Brain Networks. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *9*. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnagi.2017.00390
- Lövdén, M., Schaefer, S., Pohlmeyer, A. E., & Lindenberger, U. (2008). Walking Variability and Working-Memory Load in Aging: A Dual-Process Account Relating Cognitive Control to Motor Control Performance. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 63(3), P121– P128. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/63.3.P121
- Marcus, D., Harwell, J., Olsen, T., Hodge, M., Glasser, M., Prior, F., Jenkinson, M., Laumann, T., Curtiss, S., & Van Essen, D. (2011). Informatics and Data Mining Tools and Strategies for the Human Connectome Project. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, *5*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fninf.2011.00004
- McIntosh, A. R. (2000). Towards a network theory of cognition. *Neural Networks*, *13*(8), 861– 870. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-6080(00)00059-9
- McIntosh, A. R., Kovacevic, N., & Itier, R. J. (2008). Increased Brain Signal Variability Accompanies Lower Behavioral Variability in Development. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 4(7), e1000106. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000106
- McIntosh, A. R., & Lobaugh, N. J. (2004). Partial least squares analysis of neuroimaging data: Applications and advances. *NeuroImage*, 23, S250–S263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.020
- Mehdizadeh, S. (2018). The largest Lyapunov exponent of gait in young and elderly individuals: A systematic review. *Gait & Posture*, 60, 241–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.12.016

Miller, B. T., & D'Esposito, M. (2005). Searching for "the Top" in Top-Down Control. *Neuron*, 48(4), 535–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.11.002

Miller, E. K., & Cohen, J. D. (2001). An Integrative Theory of Prefrontal Cortex Function. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 24(1), 167–202. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.167

Mirelman, A., Herman, T., Brozgol, M., Dorfman, M., Sprecher, E., Schweiger, A., Giladi, N., & Hausdorff, J. M. (2012). Executive Function and Falls in Older Adults: New Findings from a Five-Year Prospective Study Link Fall Risk to Cognition. *PLOS ONE*, 7(6), e40297. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040297

- Murray, M. P. (1967). GAIT AS A TOTAL PATTERN OF MOVEMENT: INCLUDING A BIBLIOGRAPHY ON GAIT. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 46(1), 290–333.
- Newell, K. M., & Corcos, D. M. (1993). *Variability and motor control*. Human Kinetics Publishers. http://www.gbv.de/dms/bowker/toc/9780873224246.pdf

Nomi, J. S., Bolt, T. S., Ezie, C. E. C., Uddin, L. Q., & Heller, A. S. (2017). Moment-to-Moment BOLD Signal Variability Reflects Regional Changes in Neural Flexibility across the Lifespan. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(22), 5539–5548. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3408-16.2017

Parkes, L., Fulcher, B., Yücel, M., & Fornito, A. (2018). An evaluation of the efficacy, reliability, and sensitivity of motion correction strategies for resting-state functional MRI. *NeuroImage*, 171, 415–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.073

- Patriat, R., Reynolds, R. C., & Birn, R. M. (2017). An improved model of motion-related signal changes in fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 144, 74–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.08.051
- Potocanac, Z., Smulders, E., Pijnappels, M., Verschueren, S., & Duysens, J. (2015). Response inhibition and avoidance of virtual obstacles during gait in healthy young and older adults. *Human Movement Science*, 39, 27–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2014.08.015
- Power, J. D., Mitra, A., Laumann, T. O., Snyder, A. Z., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2014). Methods to detect, characterize, and remove motion artifact in resting state fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 84, 320–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.08.048
- Raffalt, P. C., Kent, J. A., Wurdeman, S. R., & Stergiou, N. (2019). Selection Procedures for the Largest Lyapunov Exponent in Gait Biomechanics. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 47(4), 913–923. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-019-02216-1
- Ray, K. L., Lesh, T. A., Howell, A. M., Salo, T. P., Ragland, J. D., MacDonald, A. W., Gold, J. M., Silverstein, S. M., Barch, D. M., & Carter, C. S. (2017). Functional network changes and cognitive control in schizophrenia. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, *15*, 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2017.05.001
- Reineberg, A. E., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Depue, B. E., Friedman, N. P., & Banich, M. T. (2015). Resting-state networks predict individual differences in common and specific aspects of executive function. *NeuroImage*, 104, 69–78.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.09.045

- Reineberg, A. E., & Banich, M. T. (2016). Functional connectivity at rest is sensitive to individual differences in executive function: A network analysis. *Human Brain Mapping*, 37(8), 2959–2975. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23219
- Rhea, C. K., Kuznetsov, N. A., Ross, S. E., Long, B., Jakiela, J. T., Bailie, J. M., Yanagi, M. A., Haran, F. J., Wright, W. G., Robins, R. K., Sargent, P. D., & Duckworth, J. L. (2017).
  Development of a Portable Tool for Screening Neuromotor Sequelae From Repetitive Low-Level Blast Exposure. *Military Medicine*, *182*(S1), 147–154.
  https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-16-00140
- Rhea, C. K., Kuznetsov, N. A., Wright, W. G., Haran, F. J., Ross, S. E., & Duckworth, J. L.
  (2018). Assessments for Quantifying Neuromotor Functioning After Repetitive Blast
  Exposure. In A. K. Srivastava & C. S. Cox (Eds.), *Pre-Clinical and Clinical Methods in Brain Trauma Research* (Vol. 139, pp. 283–305). Springer New York.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8564-7\_18
- Richardson, D. P., Foxe, J. J., Mazurek, K. A., Abraham, N., & Freedman, E. G. (2022). Neural markers of proactive and reactive cognitive control are altered during walking: A Mobile Brain-Body Imaging (MoBI) study. *NeuroImage*, 247, 118853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118853
- Rieck, J. R., DeSouza, B., Baracchini, G., & Grady, C. L. (2022). Reduced modulation of BOLD variability as a function of cognitive load in healthy aging. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *112*, 215–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2022.01.010
- Roeing, K. L., Hsieh, K. L., & Sosnoff, J. J. (2017). A systematic review of balance and fall risk assessments with mobile phone technology. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 73, 222–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2017.08.002

- Rosenstein, M. T., Collins, J. J., & De Luca, C. J. (1993). A practical method for calculating largest Lyapunov exponents from small data sets. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 65(1), 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2789(93)90009-P
- Sakurai, R., Inagaki, H., Tokumaru, A. M., Sakurai, K., Shimoji, K., Kobayashi-Cuya, K. E., Kitamura, A., Watanabe, Y., Shinkai, S., Awata, S., & Group, T. S. (2021). Differences in the association between white matter hyperintensities and gait performance among older adults with and without cognitive impairment. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 21(3), 313–320. https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.14132
- Satterthwaite, T. D., Elliott, M. A., Gerraty, R. T., Ruparel, K., Loughead, J., Calkins, M. E., Eickhoff, S. B., Hakonarson, H., Gur, R. C., Gur, R. E., & Wolf, D. H. (2013). An improved framework for confound regression and filtering for control of motion artifact in the preprocessing of resting-state functional connectivity data. *NeuroImage*, 64, 240– 256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.08.052
- Schaefer, A., Kong, R., Gordon, E. M., Laumann, T. O., Zuo, X.-N., Holmes, A. J., Eickhoff, S. B., & Yeo, B. T. T. (2018). Local-Global Parcellation of the Human Cerebral Cortex from Intrinsic Functional Connectivity MRI. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, NY)*, 28(9), 3095–3114. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhx179
- Shine, J. M., Matar, E., Ward, P. B., Frank, M. J., Moustafa, A. A., Pearson, M., Naismith, S. L., & Lewis, S. J. G. (2013). Freezing of gait in Parkinson's disease is associated with functional decoupling between the cognitive control network and the basal ganglia. *Brain*, *136*(12), 3671–3681. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt272
- Spedden, M. E., Malling, A. S. B., Andersen, K. K., & Jensen, B. R. (2017). Association Between Gross-Motor and Executive Function Depends on Age and Motor Task

Complexity. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, *42*(7–8), 495–506. https://doi.org/10.1080/87565641.2017.1399129

- Springer, S., Giladi, N., Peretz, C., Yogev, G., Simon, E. S., & Hausdorff, J. M. (2006). Dualtasking effects on gait variability: The role of aging, falls, and executive function. *Movement Disorders*, 21(7), 950–957. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.20848
- Stephen, D. G., Stepp, N., Dixon, J. A., & Turvey, M. T. (2008). Strong anticipation: Sensitivity to long-range correlations in synchronization behavior. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Applications*, 387(21), 5271–5278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2008.05.015
- Stepp, N., & Turvey, M. T. (2010). On strong anticipation. *Cognitive Systems Research*, 11(2), 148–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsys.2009.03.003
- Stergiou, N., & Decker, L. M. (2011). Human movement variability, nonlinear dynamics, and pathology: Is there a connection? *Human Movement Science*, 30(5), 869–888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2011.06.002
- Terrier, P., & Dériaz, O. (2011). Kinematic variability, fractal dynamics and local dynamic stability of treadmill walking. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 8(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-8-12
- Terrier, P., & Dériaz, O. (2013). Non-linear dynamics of human locomotion: Effects of rhythmic auditory cueing on local dynamic stability. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 4. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2013.00230
- Thelen, E. (1995). Motor development: A new synthesis. *American Psychologist*, *50*, 79–95. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.50.2.79

- Thompson, A., Schel, M. A., & Steinbeis, N. (2021). Changes in BOLD variability are linked to the development of variable response inhibition. *NeuroImage*, 228, 117691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117691
- Tognoli, E., & Kelso, J. A. S. (2014). The Metastable Brain. *Neuron*, *81*(1), 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.12.022
- Tustison, N. J., Avants, B. B., Cook, P. A., Zheng, Y., Egan, A., Yushkevich, P. A., & Gee, J. C. (2010). N4ITK: Improved N3 Bias Correction. *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging*, 29(6), 1310–1320. https://doi.org/10.1109/TMI.2010.2046908
- van Beers, R. J., Haggard, P., & Wolpert, D. M. (2004). The Role of Execution Noise in Movement Variability. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 91(2), 1050–1063. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00652.2003
- Van Emmerik, R. E. A., Hamill, J., & McDermott, W. J. (2005). Variability and Coordinative Function in Human Gait. *Quest*, 57(1), 102–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2005.10491845
- Verlinden, V. J. A., de Groot, M., Cremers, L. G. M., van der Geest, J. N., Hofman, A., Niessen,
  W. J., van der Lugt, A., Vernooij, M. W., & Ikram, M. A. (2016). Tract-specific white matter microstructure and gait in humans. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 43, 164–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.04.005
- Vincent, J. L., Kahn, I., Snyder, A. Z., Raichle, M. E., & Buckner, R. L. (2008). Evidence for a Frontoparietal Control System Revealed by Intrinsic Functional Connectivity. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *100*(6), 3328–3342. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90355.2008

- Wagner, J., Martínez-Cancino, R., & Makeig, S. (2019). Trial-by-trial source-resolved EEG responses to gait task challenges predict subsequent step adaptation. *NeuroImage*, 199, 691–703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.06.018
- Walton, C. C., Shine, J. M., Mowszowski, L., Gilat, M., Hall, J. M., O'Callaghan, C., Naismith,
  S. L., & Lewis, S. J. G. (2015). Impaired cognitive control in Parkinson's disease patients with freezing of gait in response to cognitive load. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 122(5), 653–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-014-1271-6
- West, R. L. (1996). An application of prefrontal cortex function theory to cognitive aging. *Psychological Bulletin*, 120, 272–292. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.120.2.272
- Wilson, J., Allcock, L., Mc Ardle, R., Taylor, J.-P., & Rochester, L. (2019). The neural correlates of discrete gait characteristics in ageing: A structured review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 100, 344–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.12.017
- Winter, D. (1995). Human balance and posture control during standing and walking. *Gait & Posture*, *3*(4), 193–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/0966-6362(96)82849-9
- Yogev-Seligmann, G., Hausdorff, J. M., & Giladi, N. (2008). The role of executive function and attention in gait. *Movement Disorders*, 23(3), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.21720
- Zhang, Y., Brady, M., & Smith, S. (2001). Segmentation of brain MR images through a hidden Markov random field model and the expectation-maximization algorithm. *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging*, 20(1), 45–57. https://doi.org/10.1109/42.906424

Parcel Number	Hemisphere	Network	ROI	X	у	Z
77	Left	Dorsal attention	Post_9	-33	-46	41
78	Left	Dorsal attention	Post_10	-29	-58	50
86	Left	Dorsal attention	FEF_1	-40	-3	51
87	Left	Dorsal attention	FEF_2	-25	-1	55
88	Left	Dorsal attention	FEF_3	-30	-8	52
90	Left	Dorsal attention	PrCv_1	-49	6	26
91	Left	Dorsal attention	PrCv_2	-50	3	38
99	Left	Salience/ventral attention	FrOperIns_3	-33	25	-1
101	Left	Salience/ventral attention	FrOperIns_5	-33	19	8
103	Left	Salience/ventral attention	FrOperIns_7	-43	12	2
105	Left	Salience/ventral attention	FrOperIns_9	-52	9	13
110	Left	Salience/ventral attention	Med_4	-5	9	48
127	Left	Control	Par_1	-29	-74	42
130	Left	Control	Par_4	-35	-62	48
132	Left	Control	Par_6	-45	-41	47
139	Left	Control	PFCl_5	-42	38	22
140	Left	Control	PFC1_6	-45	20	27
141	Left	Control	PFC1_7	-39	7	34
148	Left	Control	PFCmp_1	-4	28	47
172	Left	Default	PFC_7	-48	28	0
175	Left	Default	PFC_10	-53	19	11
185	Left	Default	PFC_20	-42	7	48
189	Left	Default	PFC_24	-6	10	65
290	Right	Dorsal attention	FEF_1	39	-3	53
306	Right	Salience/ventral attention	FrOperIns_5	37	23	5
311	Right	Salience/ventral attention	Med_1	7	19	35
314	Right	Salience/ventral attention	Med_4	6	11	58
337	Right	Control	Par_6	41	-55	48
340	Right	Control	PFCv_1	34	21	-8
346	Right	Control	PFC1_6	50	30	18
347	Right	Control	PFCl_7	48	18	23
349	Right	Control	PFC1_9	47	29	28
350	Right	Control	PFCl_10	39	11	34
353	Right	Control	PFCl_13	43	7	51
361	Right	Control	PFCmp_2	5	28	48

## APPENDIX A: 35 FRONTOPARIETAL REGIONS OF INTEREST

Note. Listed in this appendix are the 35 parcels with a modulatory effect of cognitive control demand identified by Braver et. al., 2021.